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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

------------------------------------------------------
ELAINE L. CHAO, Secretary of Labor, : Civil Action
United States Department of Labor

:  No.
Plaintiff,

v.
:

The Charles Schwab Corporation, 
Charles Schwab & Co, Inc.,
Charles Schwab Bank, 

:

Defendant. :
------------------------------------------------------

PETITION TO ENFORCE THE SECRETARY’S ORDER TO IMMEDIATELY
REINSTATE RICK LIEBCHEN & SCOTT WERLING

Plaintiff, Elaine L. Chao, Secretary of Labor, United States Department of Labor,

hereinafter "the Secretary", brings this action to enforce the provisions of section 806 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, hereinafter "the Act" (18 U.S.C. § 1514A) and the Rules for

Implementing Section 806 of the Act, hereinafter "Rule(s)" (29 C.F.R. Part 1980), by enjoining

the defendant, The Charles Schwab Corporation, Charles Schwab & Co., Inc., Charles Schwab

Bank (collectively Schwab), from failing to reinstate two employees found by the Secretary to

have been discriminatorily discharged by the defendant in violation of section 806(a) of the Act.
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Jurisdiction of this action is conferred upon the Court by Section 806(b)(2)(A) of the Act

(18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(2)(A)), incorporating provisions of the Wendell H. Ford Aviation

Investment and Reform Act for the 21st Century (“AIR21”), 49 U.S.C. § 42121(b)(5).

II

The defendant Schwab is, and at all times hereinafter mentioned, was, a corporation duly

organized under the laws of the State of Delaware and doing business in New Jersey, as Charles

Schwab & Company at 374 Milburn Avenue, Milburn, New Jersey 07041.  The employment and

subject discharge of the employees took place within the jurisdiction of this court.

III

The defendant Schwab is, and at all times hereinafter mentioned, was, a company with a

class of securities registered under section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78l)

within the meaning of section 806(a) of the Act (18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)), providing investment

services including online investing, financial advice and banking solutions.  

IV

Pursuant to section 49 U.S.C. § 42121(b)(1) (incorporated into 18 U.S.C. §

1514A(b)(2)(A)) and 29 C.F.R. §1980.103(d), a complaint was timely filed with the Secretary on

June 15, 2007 by Rick Liebchen and Scott Werling, former employees of the defendant, alleging

that the defendant discriminatorily discharged them because they objected to and refused to

participate in a scheme to falsify entries in the Multi-channel Acquisition Relationship Sales

(“MARS”) software system in violation of Federal securities laws, allegations of violations of

section 806(a) (18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)).



-3-

V

Pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 42121(b)(1) and (2) (incorporated into 18 U.S.C. §

1514A(b)(2)(A)), and 29 C.F.R. § 1980.104, the Secretary, acting through her agent, the

Regional Administrator for Occupational Safety and Health, Region II, hereinafter "the Regional

Administrator", notified the defendant of the filing of the complaint by employees Rick

Liebchen and Scott Werling, and thereafter conducted an investigation to determine whether or

not there existed reasonable cause to believe that the complaint had merit.

VI

On June 26, 2008, as a result of the investigation of the employees’ complaint, the

Regional Administrator, pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 42121 (b)(2)(A) (incorporated into 18 U.S.C. §

1514A(b)(2)(A)) and 29 C.F.R. §1980.105(a) (1), issued to the defendant written initial findings

that there was reasonable cause to believe that the defendant had discharged employees Rick

Liebchen and Scott Werling on March 20, 2007 for engaging in protected activity, in violation of

section 806(a) of the Act (18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)), and offered the defendant an additional

opportunity to present contrary evidence.  On July 28, 2008, the defendant submitted a response

to OSHA, which was followed up with a meeting with the OSHA investigator and supervisory

investigator, at the defendant’s request, on August 2, 2008.  Little new evidence was proffered in

this meeting. 

VII

On October 21, 2008, following a review of and consideration of all of the evidence

gathered during the investigation, including the defendant’s letter of contest and submission of

documentation and evidence, the Regional Administrator issued, pursuant to 49 U.S.C. §

42121(b)(2)(A) and 29 C.F.R. § 1980.105(a) (1), to the defendant a preliminary order in the



-4-

matter styled: The Charles Schwab Corporation, Charles Schwab & Co, Inc., Charles Schwab

Bank, Larry Goldstein, Scott Jensen & John Foy / Liebchen & Werling / 2-2140-07-008

(18 U.S.C. § 1514A) – Secretary’s Findings/Preliminary Order. A copy of that order is attached

as Exhibit 1 hereto.  In that order, the Regional Administrator directed that the defendant

immediately reinstate Rick Liebchen and Scott Werling to their former positions as Financial

Consultants with the Millburn, New Jersey branch office.  The Regional Administrator’s

Findings and Order are annexed to this Petition and are incorporated herein by reference.

VIII

Pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 42121(b)(2)(A) (incorporated into 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(2)(A))

and 29 C.F.R. § 1980.105(c) and § 1980.109(c), the reinstatement order of the Regional

Administrator is effective immediately.

IX

The defendant Schwab has failed to comply with the order to reinstate employees Rick

Liebchen and Scott Werling issued by the Regional Administrator.  

X

This Court is authorized to enforce the October 21, 2008 order of the Regional

Administrator, pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 42121(b)(5) and 29 C.F.R. § 1980.113, directing the

defendant to immediately reinstate Rick Liebchen and Scott Werling to their positions of

Financial Consultants.

WHEREFORE, good cause having been shown, Plaintiff respectfully prays for judgment

against the defendant:

1) enforcing the October 21, 2008 Preliminary Order of Reinstatement in the

administrative proceeding styled: The Charles Schwab Corporation, Charles Schwab & Co, Inc.,
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Charles Schwab Bank, Larry Goldstein, Scott Jensen & John Foy / Liebchen & Werling / 2-

2140-07-008(18 U.S.C. 1514A) – Secretary’s Findings/Preliminary Order, ordering the

defendant immediately to reinstate Complainants to their former positions as Financial

Consultants with the Millburn, New Jersey branch office; and,

2) temporarily and preliminarily enjoining the defendant, its agents, servants,

employees, and those persons in active concert or participation with them or acting in their

interest from failing to comply with the October 21, 2008 Preliminary Order of Reinstatement,

and from refusing to reinstate former employees  Rick Liebchen and Scott Werling, as ordered,

until such time as the administrative and judicial review procedures contained in 49 U.S.C. §

42121 and 29 C.F.R. Part 1980, are concluded.

DATED: November 17, 2008

Respectfully submitted,
CHRISTOPHER J. CHRISTIE
United States Attorney

ss/ Daniel J. Gibbons

___________________________
DANIEL GIBBONS
Assistant U.S. Attorney

GREGORY F. JACOB
Solicitor of Labor

PATRICIA M. RODENHAUSEN
Regional Solicitor

MARGARET TEMPLE
Attorney
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Exhibit 1

























THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED BY ANYONE. THIS NOTICE 
MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR 180 CONSECUTIVE DAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING 

AND MUST BE NOT ALTERED, DEFACED, OR COVERED BY OTHER MATERIAL. 
 

 

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 
 

PURSUANT TO AN ORDER BY THE U.S. DEPARTMENT 
OF LABOR, OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 
THE CHARLES SCHWAB CORPORATION (SCHWAB) has been ordered to make 
whole two employees who were found to have been retaliated against for exercising their 
rights under SOX. Schwab has also taken affirmative action to ensure the rights of its 
employees under employee whistleblower protection statutes including the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. 

 
PURSUANT TO THAT ORDER, SCHWAB AGREES THAT NEITHER 
SCHWAB NOR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES WILL: 
 

1. Discharge or in any manner discriminate against any employee because such employee 
has engaged in any activity, filed any complaint or instituted or caused to be instituted 
any proceeding under or related to the employee protection provisions of Section 806 of 
the Corporate and Criminal Fraud Accountability Act, Title VII of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. §1514A (SOX), or has testified or is about to testify in any such 
proceeding or because of the exercise by such employee on behalf of himself/herself or 
others of any right afforded by SOX. 

2. Discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any other manner discriminate 
against an employee because such employee provided information, caused information 
to be provided, or otherwise assisted in an investigation regarding any conduct which 
the employee reasonably believes constitutes a violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1341 
(mail fraud), 1343 (wire fraud), 1344 (bank fraud), or 1348 (securities fraud), any rule 
or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal 
law relating to fraud against shareholders. 

3. Harass, intimidate or retaliate against employees because such employees contacted, 
spoke with, or cooperated with Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(OSHA) officials or other government officials during the course of an investigation. 

 
 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
The Charles Schwab Corporation     Date 
 


